UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE HANDBOOK FOR UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE HANDBOOK FOR

Revised 12/31/2024



Good Life. Great Connections.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

A proud partner of the americanjobcenter[®] network



Good Life. Great Connections.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

File online at: NEworks.nebraska.gov

The Nebraska Unemployment Insurance Program is governed by the Nebraska Employment Security Law (NESL) Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-601 to 48-671 and related statutes. It is administered by the Nebraska Department of Labor, a state agency. The NESL and Nebraska Administrative Codes (NAC) cited can be viewed at: **dol.nebraska.gov**.

Benefits are paid from the Nebraska State Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund. The fund is supported solely by a special tax on employers. No deductions are taken from employees' paychecks for unemployment insurance.

This guide is not intended to take the place of the law, but to provide you with a general understanding of some of the requirements. This guidance document is advisory in nature but is binding on an agency until amended by such agency. A guidance document does not include internal procedural documents that only affect the internal operations of the agency and does not impose additional requirements or penalties on regulated parties or include confidential information or rules and regulations made in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act. If you believe that this guidance document imposes additional requirements or penalties on regulated parties, you may request a review of the document.

Equal Opportunity Program/Employer TDD/TTY: 800.833.7352 Auxiliary aids and services are available upon request to individuals with disabilities To preserve the confidentiality of your personal information, the following unemployment insurance actions must be performed online:

- File a New Claim
- File a Weekly Claim
- Reopen a Claim
- Check Payment Status
- Change Method of Payment
- Retrieve Tax Statements
- View Payment History
- Update Contact Information

For step-by- step instructions, visit:

NEworks.nebraska.gov and click Unemployment Services, then Get Information.

For technical assistance, contact the Nebraska Claims Center.

ReliaCard (Debit card inquiries) (855) 233-8429

CONTENTS

Gather the Following Information Before Filing a New Claim	4
Language Assistance	5
Registering in NEworks & Filing a New Claim	5
Reemployment Services	9
The Adjudication Process	9
Work Search Requirements	10
Filing Weekly Claims	11
Earnings Requirements	11
Qualifying Wages for Eligibility	12
Benefit Amounts	12
If You Are Working While Claiming	13
Stopping & Restarting Benefits	13
Eligibility Issues	14
Separation Issues	15
Benefit Accuracy Reviews	17
Appeals	17
Overpayments and Fraud	17

GATHER THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION BEFORE FILING A NEW CLAIM

- Social Security Number
- Complete home mailing address, including ZIP code
- Telephone number
- Email address
- County where you live
- Driver's license number or State ID card number
- If you select direct deposit, your bank routing number and account number
- The company names for all your employers from the past 18 months as they appear on your paycheck stubs or W-2 forms
- Complete mailing addresses of employers, including ZIP code and the city in which the business is physically located
- Your start and end dates with each employer, including month, day, and year.
- Your reason for leaving each employer (lack of work, voluntary quit, discharge, leave of absence)
- If a non-citizen: Documentation issued by US Citizenship and Immigration Services
- If you served in the military the past 18 months, DD 214 Member #4 Form
- If you worked for the federal government as a civilian employee in the last 18 months, Standard Form 8 or Standard Form 50. Also, compile your total wages earned with the federal employer in the last 18 months and indicate how you were paid (hourly, weekly, and monthly)

LANGUAGE ASSISTANCE

IMPORTANT! This document contains <u>important information</u> about your rights, responsibilities and/or benefits. It is critical that you understand the information in this document, and we will provide the information in your preferred language at no cost to you. **Call** (402) 458-2500 for assistance in the translation and understanding of the information in this document.

Spanish

IMPORTANTE! Este documento contiene <u>información importante</u> sobre sus derechos, responsabilidades y/o beneficios. Es importante que usted entienda la información en este documento. Nosotros le podemos ofrecer la información en el idioma de su preferencia sin costo alguno para usted. Liame al (402) 458-2500 para pedir asistencia en traducir y entender la información en este documento.

Chinese-Traditional

重要須知!本文件包含重要資訊,·事關您的權利、責任·和/或福利。請您務必理解本文件所含資訊·而我們也將使用您偏好的語言·無償為您提供資訊。請致電(402)458-2500 洽詢翻譯及理解本文件資訊方面的協助。

Vietnamese

LƯU Ý QUAN TRỌNG! Tài liệu này chứa thông tin quan trọng về quyền hạn, trách nhiệm và/hoặc quyền lợi của quý vị. Việc hiểu rõ thông tin trong tài liệu rày là rất quan trọng, và chúng tôi sẽ cung cấp miễn phí cho quý vị thông tin này bằng ngôn ngữ màquý vị ưa dùng. Hãy gọi (402) 458-2500 để được hỗ trợ về việc thông dịch và hiểu thông tin trong tài liệu rày.

Tagalog

MAHALAGA! Naglalaman ang dokumentong ito ng <u>mahalagang impormasyon</u> tungkol sa iyong mga karapatan, responsibilidad at/o benepisyo. Napakahalaga na nauunaw aan mo ang impormasyong nakapaloob sa dokumentong ito, at ibibigay namin nang libre ang impormasyon sa pinili mong wika. **Tumawag sa (402) 458-2500** upang humingi ng tulong sa pagsasaling-wika at pag-unaw a sa impormasyong nasa dokumentong ito.

French

IMPORTANT! Le présent document contient <u>des informations importantes</u> sur vos droits, vos responsabilités et/ou vos avantages. Il est essentiel que vous compreniez les informations figurant dans ce document, et nous vous fournirons gratuitement les informations dans la langue de votre choix. **Appelez au (402) 458-2500** pour obtenir de l'aide pour la traduction et la compréhension des informations contenues dans le présent document.

Haitian Creole

ENPÒTAN! Dokiman sa a gen <u>enfòmasyon enpòtan</u> ladan konsènan dw a, responsablite ak/osw a avantaj ou yo. Li ap vrèman enpòtan pou ou konprann enfòmasyon yo ki nan dokiman sa a, epi n ap ba ou enfòmasyon sa yo nan lang ou prefere a gratis. **Rele** (402) 458-2500 pou jw enn asistans pou tradui ak pou konprann enfòmasyon ki nan dokiman sa a.

Portuguese

IMPORTANTE! Este documento contém <u>informações importantes</u> sobre os seus direitos, responsabilidades e/ou benefícios. É essencial que compreenda as informações constantes neste documento, as quais disponibilizaremos, gratuitamente, na língua à sua escolha. **Contacte o número (402) 458-2500** para solicitar ajuda para traduzir e compreender as informações contidas neste documento.

Arabic

مهم ! يحتوي هذا المستند على معلومات مهمة حول حقوقك ومسؤولياتك و /أو فوائدك . من الأهمية بمكان فهم المعلومات الواردة في هذا المستند، وسنوفر المعلومات بلغتك المفضلة دون تحملك أي تكلفة . اتصل على الرقم 400-458(402) للحصول على مساعدة في ترجمة المعلومات الواردة في هذا المستند وفهمها . Russian

ВАЖНО! В настоящем документе содержится **важная информация** о ваших правах, обязанностяхи/или преимуществах. Крайне важно, чтобы вы поняли информацию, содержащуюся в данном документе, а мы бесплатно предоставим вам эту информацию на выбранном вами языке. **Позвоните по телефону (402) 458-2500** для получения помощи в переводе и понимании информации, содержащейся в данном документе.

Korean 중요! 본 문서는 귀하의 권리,책임 및/또는 이익에 관한 중요한정보를 포함하고 있습니다. 귀하가 본 문서에 있는 정보를 이해하는 것은 대단히 중요하며,귀하가원하는 언어로 정보를 제공받으실 수 있습니다. (402)458-2500 로전화하여 본 문서에 있는 정보의 번역 및 이해를 위해 도움받으시길 바랍니다.

REGISTERING IN NEWORKS & FILING A NEW CLAIM

When to File for Benefits

File your new claim as soon as your employment ends or you begin working reduced hours. An unemployment claim is effective the week in which you apply for benefits. Weeks prior to the effective date of your claim cannot be paid even if you meet all the eligibility requirements.

How to File for Benefits

Claims in Nebraska are filed online. If you do not have internet access or have a disability requiring assistive technology, please visit your local Job Center for assistance. For a listing of Job Centers, click **here**.

Resume Requirements

You must register in Nebraska's reemployment website, NEworks - **NEworks.nebraska.gov** - before filing a new For step-by-step instructions, go to: **NEworks. nebraska.gov** and click Unemployment Services, then Get Information.

To protect your privacy and ensure the accuracy of information provided to Nebraska Department of Labor, you should never have someone file a claim on your behalf.

Claims can be filed on a computer or mobile device. If you do not have access to the internet, you may use computers at any of the job centers listed online at dol.nebraska.gov/ContactUs.

claim. When creating an account in NEworks and applying for benefits, you will be prompted to create a resume. **Make sure** your resume is searchable and set to "online" to meet the eligibility requirement.

If you are filing a claim from another state and do not live in a county bordering Nebraska, you must also register for employment services in the state of your residence.

Able and Available to Work

In order to qualify for UI benefits you must be:

- Actively looking for work
- Mentally and physically able to work
- Legally authorized to work in the United States
- Available to accept new work (for example, you do not have personal responsibilities that would prevent you from working)

Claiming benefits while incarcerated is fraud and may result in criminal prosecution. 219 NAC 4; Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-627(3); Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-663.

Your Privacy and Your Password

To protect your privacy, NDOL does not provide information about your claim to anyone other than you, whether the information is requested in person, in writing, by email or over the phone. We cannot give information to a family member.

When filing for unemployment benefits online, you will choose a secure password to protect your privacy and ensure the utmost security. You will need your secure password to file your weekly claim each week, so be sure to keep it in a safe place.

Methods of Payment

You are required to select a payment method of direct deposit or debit card when filing your new claim. We do not issue paper checks. You can change your payment method by logging into your unemployment claim at **NEworks.nebraska.gov**. New Unemployment Insurance claims are typically processed within 21 days from the date the claim is filed. After your new claim is processed and if you are determined eligible, you will typically receive payment within 2-3 business days of filing your weekly claim.

Direct Deposit

Direct deposit is an electronic payment transfer to an individual's checking or savings account. When you file your initial claim and select direct deposit as your preferred method of payment, or when you modify your bank account information, **you must enter the bank routing and account numbers.** You are solely responsible for the accuracy of the account information. Incorrect information may result in a delay of benefit payments, and possible fees. You are also solely responsible for updating your banking information should changes occur. Failure to do so could affect timely receipt of your unemployment insurance benefits.

For direct deposit, your routing and account numbers can be found at the bottom of your paper checks. If you do not know the appropriate routing number or your checking or savings account number, please contact your bank.



A.B.A Routing Numbers Example

- **DO NOT** enter the number that appears on your debit card.
- **DO NOT enter prepaid card numbers.** Payments will not be issued to any prepaid cards under the direct deposit payment method.

Debit Card

The U.S. Bank ReliaCard[®] is a VISA[®] prepaid debit card.* The card is mailed in a plain windowed envelope at the time a claim becomes payable. There is no information on the envelope indicating that a ReliaCard debit card is enclosed. Keep the card and the information that came with the card until the expiration date printed on the card. If your unemployment claim ends and you file a new claim, a new card will be issued even if the previous card has not expired.

*The ReliaCard® is issued by U.S. Bank National Association pursuant to a license from Visa U.S.A. Inc. © 2022 U.S. Bank. Member FDIC. If you have a change of address, you must update your address in your NEworks account and report your new address to ReliaCard by calling Customer Service at 855-233-8429.

For more information visit: www.usbankreliacard.com

Income Tax Withholding

Unemployment benefits are taxable income under federal and state law. The benefits paid to you are reported to the Internal Revenue Service and to the Nebraska Department of Revenue. No income tax is withheld from your benefit payments unless you request it. If you decide to have taxes withheld, 10 percent will be deducted from your weekly benefit payment for federal taxes and 5% will be withheld for state taxes. You can request, stop, or change your income tax withholding by logging into your account at **NEworks.nebraska.gov**.

No later than January 31, you will receive an IRS Form 1099-G showing the total benefits paid to you for the prior year and the income taxes withheld. It will be sent to your last known address, so keep your address current.

You can view and print your 1099-G form online by logging into your account at NEworks.nebraska.gov.

While Your New Claim is Pending

New Unemployment Insurance claims are typically processed within 21 days from the date the claim is filed. Federal and State law require that a request for separation information be sent to each employer to verify work history, wages and details regarding the separation. You may also be contacted and asked to provide information to evaluate benefit eligibility. Remember to do the following while your claim is being processed:

Read all communication about your claim. Check your email, the NEworks Message Center, telephone messages, and the mail for any claim-related updates. Keep your address current because you will receive letters outlining what you need to do to maintain benefit eligibility. The decisions about your claim are made based on available information, so it is important that you respond on time when you are instructed to do so.

File weekly claims at NEworks.nebraska.gov while your claim is processing. You have from Sunday to Saturday to file your claim for the previous week. If you don't file your claim on time, your benefit payments may be affected.

Report your gross wages (before taxes are deducted) for each week you claim. Gross wages include, but are not limited to: your hourly rate of pay multiplied by the total hours worked, tips, and commission. You must report all wages for the week that you perform the work. Do not wait until you are paid. Keep track of the total hours you work each week, Sunday through Saturday because your claim maybe audited. Misreporting wages is fraud and could result in penalties and criminal charges.

REEMPLOYMENT SERVICES

The Nebraska Department of Labor provides a Reemployment Services (NEres) program, designed to help you find work. The program selects individuals early in their unemployment and offers job seeker services to help you become reemployed as soon as possible. If you receive a notice that you have been selected, you are required to take part in this program in order to remain eligible for unemployment insurance benefits. For any week that you do not participate in the NEres program, you may be disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits.

NEres starts with an orientation and includes a required one-on-one meeting with a Department of Labor staff member. Staff will review your employment history, help you create an employment plan and refer you to the reemployment services that fit your needs.

For a list of job centers offering reemployment services, go to dol.nebraska.gov/ContactUs

THE ADJUDICATION PROCESS

Adjudication is the process used to resolve questions regarding eligibility for unemployment insurance benefits. Your claim may be referred to an adjudicator if there are questions about why you left your job or whether you are able and available for work. Other issues may also prompt a claim to be referred to

an adjudicator. Please see the **Eligibility Issues** and **Separation Issues** sections.

During adjudication, the Department of Labor will make a determination about your claim based on all available information, including information from you, your employers, and sometimes other sources. If you receive a phone call or letter from an adjudicator, be sure to respond on time.

While your claim is pending adjudication, continue to file weekly claims and complete your weekly online work search logs. If your claim is determined payable and you have met all other eligibility requirements, you will receive back payments for prior weeks claimed in a lump sum.

If you disagree with a determination issued, you have the right to appeal within 20 days. Please see the **Appeals** section of this guide for further instructions. To prepare for an adjudicator's call, have the following information ready:

- Reason for separation from your employer
- Dates when events happened causing the separation
- Names of witnesses or supervisors involved with the separation
- Written documentation, such as warnings, medical notes, if applicable
- Check stubs verifying vacation, severance, holiday or bonus pay, if applicable
- Any questions you may have

Reemployment Activities Unemployment Insurance Benefits

Five of the following reemployment activities must be completed per benefit week in order to remain eligible for Unemployment Benefits. At least two of the five reemployment activities must be applications for suitable work as defined by Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.15(5). This requirement does not apply if you are on a temporary layoff and your employer has confirmed a return-to-work date within 16 weeks of your layoff date, if you are attached to certain industries, if you are a member in good standing with a union hiring hall, or you are in a TRADE or Approved Training program.



FILING WEEKLY CLAIMS

How to File

After you file your new claim, file weekly claims online at **NEworks.nebraska.gov** for every week you are unemployed or your hours are reduced. You must file a weekly claim for any week that you want payment or waiting week credit, **even if your new claim is still being processed, your eligibility is being decided, or you have an appeal pending.** After your claim has been processed and if you are determined eligible, you will typically receive payment within 2-3 business days of filing your weekly claim.

When to File

You have from **Sunday to Saturday** to request benefits for the previous week. Failure to file your weekly claim on time could result in denial of benefits. 219 NAC 2 (003)(C)(D)

Waiting Week

The first eligible week is called your "waiting week." To get credit for the waiting week, you must file a weekly claim and meet all eligibility requirements for that week. The waiting week is never paid. However, you must serve a waiting week to be eligible for payments for later weeks. There is one waiting week per benefit year. If for any reason your benefits are denied for the beginning weeks of your request, your waiting week will be your first eligible week after the denial period. A week that is prior to the effective date of the claim or a week that is under disqualification for any reason cannot be used as the waiting week. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-627 (4)

Earnings Requirements

You must meet certain earnings requirements in order to qualify for unemployment benefits.

NDOL looks at the following when determining if you have enough wages to qualify for benefits:

1. Total wages earned during your base period. For 2025, the minimum earnings requirement is \$5,297. The minimum earnings requirement is adjusted annually.

A standard base period is the first four of the last five completed calendar quarters before the start date of your claim. A calendar quarter is equal to three-month segments of the year beginning in January. If you do not meet the requirement for total earnings during the standard base period, you may be eligible using an alternate base period (the last four completed calendar quarters before the start date of your claim).





2. Wages earned per quarter. You must have earned at least \$1,850 in wages in one quarter and \$800 in another quarter in order to qualify. Wages must have been earned from employers required to pay unemployment insurance taxes (insured employers).

QUALIFYING WAGES FOR ELIGIBILITY

Wages must have been earned from employers required to pay unemployment insurance taxes (insured employers). If you are not sure whether your work is insured employment, you should file a claim and request weekly benefits. A wage investigation will be conducted to determine if you are eligible to receive benefits. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-627.01(1a)

Under Nebraska law, you cannot receive benefits on 'back-to-back' unemployment claims unless you have worked in insured employment since the filing date of your prior claim and earned at least six times the previous weekly benefit amount. Your new claim must meet both the minimum monetary requirements and the requalification requirement. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-627.01(1b)

BENEFIT AMOUNTS

The maximum weekly benefit amount for 2025 is \$564. Your individual benefits are calculated by identifying the highest quarter wages in your base period. That amount is then divided by 13 to arrive at the average weekly wage, then divided again by two and rounded down to the next even dollar amount to arrive at your weekly benefit amount. After your claim has been processed you can view your weekly benefit amount in the Unemployment Services Claim Summary. You will also be advised of your weekly benefit amount when you receive your monetary determination. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-624

If you are determined eligible, you will typically receive payment within 2-3 business days of filing your weekly claim.

You may be eligible for up to 26 weeks of benefits during a 12-month period. **The maximum amount of unemployment benefits you may receive during your benefit year is 26 times your weekly benefit amount, or 1/3 of your total base period wages, whichever is less.** Your maximum amount is calculated after any separation issues are adjudicated and may be reduced when there are separation disqualifications, such as a discharge or quit or refusal of suitable employment.

IF YOU ARE WORKING WHILE CLAIMING

Report Wages

Report wages earned during that week even if you did not actually receive payment that week. Each time you file a weekly claim, you will be asked if you worked. Answer "yes" if you performed any work for wages, even if it was temporary or part-time. You must report your gross wages (before deductions and taxes). Wages include but are not limited to: wages, tips, salary, commission, cash, allowances for meals or lodging, vacation pay and bonuses. **You must report your wages in the week you perform the work, not when you are paid**. If you worked for more than one employer in a week, add your wages from all employers. If you earned less than your weekly benefit amount for any claimed week, you may be eligible for partial benefits. If your wages for the week are more than your weekly benefit amount, you will not receive benefits for that week. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-625.

Failure to report all work and wages when submitting your weekly claim may result in any or all of the following consequences:

- Repaying incorrectly paid benefits
- 15% penalty fee on the amount of any benefits owed
- Loss of future benefits
- Interception of federal and/or State of Nebraska income tax refunds to repay benefits
- Civil action
- Criminal prosecution

Accepting Full-Time Employment

If you've been claiming Unemployment Insurance benefits and have accepted a new job, you may claim benefits until you start your new employment. Log into your NEworks account and upload a letter from your new employer indicating the start date. The letter will be reviewed to determine if you meet the conditions for waiver of job search requirements.

You must continue to search for work until notified by NDOL that the requirement is waived. Contact NDOL if you have questions about claiming benefits until you start your job, or if you are unsure whether you are required to search for work.

STOPPING & RESTARTING BENEFITS

To Reopen Your Claim

If you become unemployed again and wish to file for benefits, go online to **NEworks.nebraska.gov** and reopen your claim during the first week your job has ended or your employer has reduced your work hours. When reopening the claim you must add all employment since last time you filed for unemployment in order to prevent a delay in processing of your claim. You will not be able to file a weekly claim for benefits until you reopen your claim.

Reopen your claim if:

- You have not submitted a weekly certification for benefits for two or more weeks,
- You received a notice that you must reopen your claim to continue benefits.

EXAMPLES OF ELIGIBILITY ISSUES

Able and Available to Work

In order to qualify for UI benefits you must be:

- Actively looking for work
- Mentally and physically able to work
- Legally authorized to work in the United States
- Available to accept new work (for example, you do not have personal responsibilities that would prevent you from working)

Claiming benefits while incarcerated is fraud and may result in criminal prosecution. 219 NAC 4; Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-627(3); Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-663.

Resume Requirement

You must have an active, online resume in order to qualify for benefits.

When creating an account in NEworks and applying for benefits, you will be prompted to create a resume. Your resume must be searchable and set to "online" before you file your first weekly claim in order to meet Unemployment Insurance eligibility requirements.

Education Employees

If you are employed for or on behalf of an educational institution, benefits may be denied between terms and/or during regularly scheduled breaks. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.06

Reemployment Services

If you receive a notice that you have been selected for the Reemployment Services program (NEres), you are required to take part in this program in order to remain eligible for unemployment insurance benefits. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-627(5)

Reporting

The Nebraska Department of Labor may contact you and require that you provide additional information regarding your claim. If you fail to respond and provide the information requested, you may be disqualified from benefits. 219 NAC 2(004)

Attending School

If you are regularly attending school as a full-time student, you may be disqualified from benefits unless you were a student at the time you earned the majority of the wages in your base period. An exception may apply if you are enrolled in a training program which has been approved by the Commissioner of Labor. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.03

Approved Training Program

If you qualify for unemployment insurance benefits and are planning to attend vocational training, you may apply for the Approved Training program. If your application is approved by the Commissioner of Labor, the work search requirements will be waived while you are in training until you exhaust your regular unemployment insurance benefits. After your regular unemployment benefits are exhausted, you may be eligible for up to an additional 26 weeks of benefits if you continue your training. Tuition and school expenses are not paid under this program. Work search requirements are waived while you are receiving additional benefits under the Approved Training Program. 225 NAC 1 For more information regarding this program, go to **dol.nebraska.gov**.

Strike/Labor Dispute

In general, individuals are disqualified for the week(s) they are unemployed due to a work stoppage resulting from a strike or lockout. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.09

Vacation, Severance, or Receipt of Other Payments

Benefits may be denied or reduced for any week in which you receive additional payments from your employer. Examples include vacation, severance, holiday, bonus, sick, workers' compensation or pension payments. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.02(1)

Work Refusal

You may be disqualified for 12 weeks for failing to accept an offer of suitable employment or failure to accept a Nebraska Department of Labor Employment Services referral. Suitability is determined by considering a person's training and experience and the conditions in the labor market. Maximum benefits payable may also be reduced when a disqualification is assessed. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628(1)(3)

Work Search

You will be disqualified for weeks that you did not meet the work search requirements. See the Work Search Requirements section of this Guide for more information. 219 NAC 4

Employment Eligibility

The Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 (P.L-99-803) requires all employers to verify employment eligibility of new employees. When an employer hires you, the employer will require that you show certain documents to prove your identity and employment eligibility. Failure to present the documents to your employer or the Nebraska Department of Labor may affect your eligibility for unemployment benefits.

SEPARATION ISSUES

Voluntary Quit

In Nebraska, good cause for quitting includes but is not limited to the conditions of work, compelling health reasons, or quitting to escape spousal abuse. If the Nebraska Department of Labor determines that a person has quit a job without good cause, maximum benefits payable may be reduced when a disqualification is assessed. The disqualified individual will be ineligible for benefits until they meet the following requalification requirements:

- Returned to insured work,
- Earned at least four times the claim's weekly benefit amount, and
- Separated from the most recent employer under non-disqualifying conditions

Discharge for Ordinary Misconduct

If a person is discharged from a job for misconduct, a disqualification is assessed for the week of the discharge plus 14 weeks, as determined by the Nebraska Department of Labor. In cases of misconduct, the burden of proof is on the employer. The employer must prove that an employee was discharged for acts or omissions that 1) damaged the employer's interest in relation to the employment; 2) the employee knew or reasonably should have known were contrary to the employer's interests; and 3) were willful or within the employee's control. Maximum benefits payable may also be reduced when a disqualification is assessed. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.10(1)

Discharge for Aggravated Misconduct

If a person is discharged for misconduct not considered to be willful and flagrant or unlawful, but which included being under the influence of any intoxicating beverage or being under the influence of any controlled substance not prescribed by a physician licensed to practice medicine or surgery, and when the person is under the influence on the worksite or while engaged in work for the employer, then the disqualification includes a cancellation of wages from the employer. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.10(2)

Discharge for Gross Misconduct

If a person is discharged due to an act or omission that is willful and flagrant or unlawful, that individual does not qualify for benefits on wages earned prior to the date of the act. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.10(3)

Leave of Absence

To receive unemployment benefits, you must be completely separated from your employer, on a temporary layoff, or working reduced hours. A leave of absence is not a complete separation from employment. As generally defined, a leave of absence is a mutual agreement between the employee and employer. The employee is not separated and does not report for work for a mutually agreed upon time period.

The Nebraska Employment Security Law requires a disqualification from benefits for any week in which the individual is on a leave of absence. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-602; Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.08; 219 NAC 8

BENEFIT ACCURACY REVIEWS

The Benefit Accuracy Measurement Unit (BAM) randomly selects claims for audit each week. BAM investigators review and verify all data related to the case selected and gather new information from claimants, employers and other sources when necessary to determine if payments or denials are proper. Areas investigated include, but are not limited to base period wages, the reasons for separation or reduction in working hours, claimant ability and availability for work, claimant weekly reemployment activities, and wages reported during the benefit year.

When payments or denials are determined to be improper, the BAM investigator may make corrections on the claim or forward it to the appropriate unit for corrections.

Selected claimants are required to participate in the investigation. Failure to provide information as requested by the BAM investigator may result in a denial of benefits. 219 NAC 2(004)

APPEALS

You have the right to appeal if you disagree with a determination regarding your claim. Your appeal must be received within 20 calendar days from the date the determination was mailed.

You can file your appeal online at **NEworks.nebraska.gov**, by email (**NDOL.Appeals@nebraska.gov**), by fax (402-471-1734), or in writing by mailing to: Nebraska Appeal Tribunal, Nebraska Department of Labor, PO Box 98941, Lincoln, NE 68509. If your appeal is in writing, you must state the reason you wish to appeal and include your signature, Social Security Number and employer's name. There are two parties that may file an appeal regarding your unemployment benefits - you, the claim-ant, and your former employer. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-634

You will be notified by the Nebraska Appeal Tribunal that an appeal has been received. In a separate notice, you will be informed of the time and date of the hearing. Follow all instructions from the Appeal Tribunal to protect your own interests. It is important that you participate in the hearing. Appeal hearings are free and a lawyer is not required, although you may be represented at your own expense. Appeal hearings are conducted by telephone conference call.

While your appeal is pending, continue to file for weekly benefits, complete any required reemployment activities, and log these activities at **NEworks.nebraska.gov**. If you disagree with the appeal decision, you may request that the decision be reconsidered or you may appeal to the District Court. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-638

OVERPAYMENTS AND FRAUD

Overpayments can result from a disqualification on benefits already paid, an appeal reversal, or from unreported or misreported wages. Benefit Payment Control monitors benefit payments to determine if unemployment benefits were paid correctly. This includes sending wage audits and employment status review requests to employers to ensure accurate reporting of wages. Incorrect or unreported wages can result in a person having to repay benefits, loss of future benefit eligibility, and criminal prosecution. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-663; Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-665 The Nebraska Department of Labor may contact you and require that you provide additional information regarding your claim. If you fail to report and provide the information requested, you may be disqualified from benefits. 219 NAC 2(004)

If you are paid more than you are eligible to receive, you will be notified that you have been overpaid. All overpayments must be repaid. Weekly benefit payments may be intercepted and applied towards your overpayment. The Nebraska Department of Labor can recover overpayments by intercepting your state and/or federal income tax refund and/or through civil action. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-665

Failure to report information that affects your eligibility for unemployment benefits may be an act of fraud. Falsely reporting information on your claim application or weekly claim certifications may also be an act of fraud. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-663; Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-663.01

Consequences of unemployment insurance fraud may include:

- Repaying benefits received
- A 15% penalty based on the amount of the overpayment
- Losing eligibility to receive benefits now and in the future
- Forfeiting state and federal income tax refunds
- Criminal charges, jail time, felony or misdemeanor conviction

If you have a balance due on two or more fraudulent overpayments determined within five years prior to the effective date of a claim, you are disqualified until the overpaid benefits are repaid in full. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-628.11